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To Robert, Wynn, and Molly










INTRODUCTION



Joseph Robinette Biden was born in Scranton, Pennsylvania, on November 20, 1942, to Catherine Eugenia “Jean” Biden (née Finnegan) and Joseph R. Biden Sr. Jean was homecoming queen and belonged to a big and close-knit, boisterous Irish-Catholic family from Scranton.1 Joe Jr. would capitalize on his Irish roots and Catholic upbringing, building a constituency of Irish-Catholic voters.


The man who would be president boasts less about the rest of his heritage, which is presumed to be mostly English. It’s easy to understand why. Claims circulated online at the climax of the presidential race in the summer of 2020 that Biden’s ancestors on his father’s side owned slaves.


America’s racial tensions had been simmering for years and finally hit a boiling point with the death of George Floyd in late May of that year. Far-left demonstrators rioted throughout what Seattle mayor Jenny Durkan called the “Summer of Love.”2 They toppled and defaced statues, torched buildings and businesses—many owned by other blacks—and injured more than two thousand police officers,3 all in the name of racial justice. In what may have been the lowest moment, a twenty-six-year-old looter named Stephan Cannon killed a seventy-seven-year-old retired St. Louis police captain named David Dorn while Dorn tried to defend a friend’s business.4 Dorn himself was black.


For such a public family, relatively little has been written about the Bidens, particularly those not named Joe or Hunter, so this apparent revelation that they are direct descendants of slaveholders had all the hallmarks of a bombshell. It was also particularly bad timing for Joe, who was on the verge of fulfilling his lifelong goal of becoming president of the United States.


But then a miracle happened—a miracle if you are a fan of Joe Biden, that is. The establishment media bailed him out. USA Today, Snopes, and PolitiFact determined that the claims that Joe was heir to slave owners were unfounded. Despite evidence submitted by readers, Snopes held firm that it was “unproven,” effectively, and erroneously, exonerating the Bidens.


Not until after Biden won the election did a genealogist make it official: one of Joe’s ancestors, Thomas Randle, did in fact own slaves.5


Biden had gotten away with it.


Over his eight decades on the planet, he’s gotten away with plenty, and this book explores many of those examples.


The oldest of four, Joe often found himself responsible for his younger siblings, thrusting him into a leadership position at an early age. Joe was scrappy and athletic; he was a talented football player in high school and played briefly in college. He developed a level of charisma that he had not come by easily because he grew up with a serious stutter. The story goes that it was so bad, even a nun mocked him during a seventh-grade class, referring to young Joe as “Mr. Buh-buh-buh Biden.”6 He overcame it, though, partially by reciting poetry. (He claimed he tried to learn to speak by putting pebbles in his mouth, but that method failed.7) Through adversity, the power of speech and well-delivered oratory were instilled in Biden at an early age.8


Despite the stutter and the fact that he was undersized in his youth, Joe was elected class president his junior and senior years at the prestigious Archmere Academy.9


He did not enjoy a similar level of accomplishment in the classroom. There is no sugarcoating it: Joe was a bad student. He left the University of Delaware football team after his first year to focus on his grades after pulling a mere 1.9 GPA. He managed to get into law school at Syracuse, attending in no small part to pursue a young woman there, Neilia Hunter, whom he met cute on a spring break trip to the Bahamas in 1964. She would become his first wife.10 In 1968, he graduated 76th out of 85 in his class at Syracuse University College of Law.11


By then he already knew he wanted to be president of the United States, and he probably had for some time. Biden claims in one of his memoirs that he wrote a paper in grade school saying that he wanted to be president, though he also fibbed quite a bit, then and now, so it’s hard to verify that detail.


Joe Biden’s grandiosity began to translate into a career in politics two years after law school, when he ran successfully for county council in 1970. He miraculously won his first race for U.S. Senate at the age of twenty-nine and ran for president for the first time in 1988, when he was forty-five. It wasn’t until more than thirty years later, when he was seventy-eight years old, that he finally landed his dream job.


The centerpiece of his 2020 campaign for the highest office in the land was composed of three key promises: he would shut down the Chinese coronavirus (dubbed “COVID-19” by the World Health Organization), the economy would roar back from the pandemic-induced economic collapse, and he would unify the country. Nearly three years into his presidency, he has not achieved any of these goals. The Delta and Omicron variants, along with apparent waning vaccine efficacy, ensured that the COVID-19 death toll under President Joe Biden surged past that of his presidential predecessor,12 Donald Trump. Inflation hit a forty-plus-year high, and economic confidence fell to levels unseen in recent decades aside from during the 2008 financial crisis.13 He forged an agenda focused on strictly partisan legislation and delivered a series of speeches demonizing his political opponents, so it quickly became apparent that there would be no actual effort to unify the country, unless, of course, all Americans spontaneously decided to agree with Joe Biden on everything.


Indeed, Joe Biden has gone to great lengths to deepen our political divides. Not only has he acknowledged that political tensions have risen during his administration, but he has attempted to use that fact to his political benefit, laying the blame squarely on the “extreme MAGA” movement.14


Throughout his career, Biden had emphasized how important it is for the president to trust his own gut. He has certainly abided by that, and by one objective measure, it has worked for him. He got the career he always wanted. Still, Joe’s gut often tells him to insult and demean Americans with whom he differs, if he even chooses to acknowledge them at all.


This is not a classy look, especially for a U.S. president.


Biden’s public image is that of “Lunch Bucket Joe,” champion of the blue-collar worker and the middle class. But his policies have more often served the ruling classes both in the U.S. and abroad. His domestic agenda has included the importation of more foreign workers to compete with Americans, inflationary spending, and a steady opposition to affordable abundant energy. On a personal level, he lived for two decades in a ten-thousand-square-foot mansion formerly owned by the fabulously wealthy du Pont family.15


Nothing says “man of the people” quite like having your own ballroom.16


Thus, it follows that there would be a disconnect between his everyman public persona and his governing priorities. After all, Joe Biden’s entire adult life has been spent as a politician. After thirty-six years in the Senate, eight as vice president under Barack Obama, and now as president of the United States, there is no one in America who more clearly embodies the establishment than Joe Biden.


Without Joe Biden and the ideas that have driven his career, our system of governance would not be what it is today.


He has benefited greatly from the protection of our partisan media establishment, which has spent far more time over the last half century running interference for Biden than challenging him. For example, an air of corruption has swirled around his family over the last decade, especially his son Hunter, who has appeared to have scored numerous lucrative business deals off the family’s name. Hunter even lost track of the infamous “Laptop from Hell,” which revealed numerous personal and family secrets, including troubling insights into their business dealings. Yet none of it was enough to keep Joe out of the White House.


He also has had some high-profile personal failings. Joe flunked a law school class in 1965 for lifting, without attribution, five pages from a published law review. He dropped out of the 1988 presidential race after a plagiarism scandal. He was caught copying entire passages of stump speeches from the likes of Robert F. Kennedy, again without attribution.17


President Barack Obama reportedly said, “Don’t underestimate Joe’s ability to fuck things up.”18 Former defense secretary Robert Gates said in 2014 that “he has been wrong on nearly every major foreign policy and national security issue over the past four decades.” You’d be hard-pressed to find examples of Biden international successes since. In this book, we’ll examine new, extravagant failures.


Yet Joe Biden rose to the top, despite it all.


Prior to the presidency, the places where he made indelible marks on American society were rarely positive ones.


He played a pivotal role in the deal that gave the U.S. access to the Chinese box office—and ultimately led to Hollywood outsourcing our know-how to the Chinese Communist Party (CCP).


He ushered in the era of politicized judicial confirmations, starting with the “borking” of Judge Robert Bork and then the “high-tech lynching” of black conservative Clarence Thomas. (My late friend and mentor Andrew Breitbart cited the Thomas hearings as one of the key moments that caused him to renounce his “factory setting” Los Angeles liberalism and become a conservative Republican.)


Biden said that busing would create “a racial jungle,” among other insensitive comments about minorities in America. He has also spoken fondly of segregationist senators.19


Before Biden began complaining about institutional racism in our society20—which is ironic coming from someone who has been in control of those same institutions for half a century—he was responsible for a crime bill in 1994 that led to the mass incarceration of black men.21 (He would go on to make Kamala Harris his vice president, who also built a career on jailing the nonviolent.) In 2020, Biden said the bill was a mistake,22 but it was convenient that his change of heart after more than twenty-five years occurred while he was in the midst of a presidential run.


When he was a U.S. senator from Delaware, it was well known that the train was his preferred mode of transportation, which he emphasized presumably to present a populist image to the masses. Yet Biden was known to hold up the Amtrak Acela when he was running late, even if that meant delaying the lives of all the other souls on board. (In actuality, the Acela is one of the least populist modes of transportation; tickets from Union Station in Washington, DC, to Wilmington, Delaware, can cost upward of three hundred dollars per seat in 2023 dollars and are typically booked by people with substantial corporate or government expense accounts.)


There are also all those gaffes. “Let me start off with two words—Made in America.” 23


And the brain freezes. “There are more corporations incorporated in America than every other state in America combined.” 24


And the fibs. “I used to drive an eighteen-wheeler, man.”


And the absurd embellishments. “I had the great honor of being arrested with our UN ambassador on the streets of Soweto trying to get to see [Nelson Mandela] on Robbens [sic] Island.” (He was stopped at an airport in South Africa, neither he nor the ambassador was arrested, and Biden was not “on the streets.”)25


And the light racism. “Poor kids are just as bright and just as talented as white kids.” 26


And the heavy racism. “If you have a problem figuring out whether you’re for me or Trump then you ain’t black.” 27 He even casually slurred Jews during a public speech, referring to them as “Shylocks who took advantage of these women and men” by issuing bad loans that lead to foreclosures.28


He has stolen valor. “I say this as a father of a man [who]… lost his life in Iraq.” 29 (This is 100 percent false.)


There are also the schoolyard taunts. “You’re a lying dog-faced pony soldier.” 30


And the occasional invitations to violence. “I’d beat the hell out of him.” 31 (This comment was in reference to the president of the United States at the time, Donald Trump.)


All of these examples paint the picture of a man with a not particularly facile mind. Colloquially, Joe Biden has always been a little off. A shameless, mildly racist bullshitter with a vindictive streak and no apparent expertise beyond being the familiar face of the government itself.


Yet in my view, this makes his rise all the more fascinating. It is tempting to marginalize Joe Biden as someone who has simply failed upward. He has, after all, climbed the career ladder as high as any human can go, and he’s done so without striking political gifts, a dazzling record, or any other innate or inherited advantage.


Perhaps the sheer volume of the cringe-inducing moments of Joe Biden’s career might help explain his rise to power, not belie it. As it turns out, integrity, accomplishment, and a history of excellence might not make the prototypical president in these modern times. Maybe it’s the exact opposite.


Yes, Joe Biden does have a set of skills and character traits that have aided his rise.


For example, he’s an egotist, which is a true advantage in the age of social media and cable news, where the political discourse is constantly overwhelmed by vitriol. He tends to recruit and appoint allies who have a similar nature: potentially incompetent but with a preternatural and undeserved self-confidence (I’m looking at you, Secretary Pete.) While running for president for the first time in 1987, then senator Biden was asked by a reporter, “What law school did you attend and where did you place in that class?” Biden’s response needs to be read in its entirety to be believed32 (fact-checks in brackets and italics):




I think I probably have a much higher IQ than you do, I suspect. I went to law school on a full academic scholarship, the only one in my in my class to have a full academic scholarship. [Records show Biden received an $800 scholarship based on financial need; tuition was $1,620.]


The first year in law school I decided I didn’t want to be in law school and ended up in the bottom two-thirds of my class [he was in the bottom quarter of his class his first year], and then decided I wanted to stay, went back to law school, and in fact ended up in the top half of my class. [Biden graduated law school near the bottom of his class.]


I won the international moot court competition. [There is no known record of this specific victory.] I was the outstanding student in the political science department at the end of my year. [He graduated from the University of Delaware in 1961, ranking 506th in a class of 688; he carried a C average.] I graduated with three degrees from undergraduate school and 165 credits; I only needed 123 credits.[He graduated with two degrees.]


And I’d be delighted to sit down and compare my IQ to yours if you’d like. [This might be true, and it’s fun to picture this “sit-down” actually taking place.]33





A thirty-second torrent of lies and delusions, and C-SPAN’s cameras were rolling to capture it all. The footage has the feel of a black comedy, i.e., it’s vaguely humorous and tremendously uncomfortable. The footage, immortalized on YouTube, is priceless. It provides a crystal-clear view into an unclear mind. Yet it is the mind of someone who has “what it takes” to become the most powerful person in the world.


Over his life, Joe Biden has, to his credit, built up an unusual amount of rhinoceros skin. In common parlance, he DGAF. He has mastered the ability to suffer life’s indignities with the whole world looking on and act as though everything is going according to plan. This trait might not have mattered quite so much in 1988, but it would be utterly essential decades later, in a time when a candidate needs to run the gauntlet of cable news and Twitter and dank memes in order to get to 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue.


Besides, he’s never much cared for the media.


For Joe Biden, family is everything. This suits Joe’s personality, but it has been an even greater benefit to the rest of the Bidens. Though Joe pledged “an absolute” wall between himself and his family’s financial dealings, history has shown his commitment to keeping the cash flowing—and his willingness to use his office to protect it. The most obvious recent example of this is perhaps how he has used the White House ethics office to implement a plan to keep the buyers of his son Hunter’s art anonymous.34


Is it possible that those willing to pay big money for the president’s son’s amateur drawings might want special consideration or a favor in return? Americans deserve to know basic details about these purchases, but Joe Biden clearly disagrees and, as the pattern goes, doesn’t care.


There are many similarly shocking examples. During an interview, Peter Schweizer, head of the Government Accountability Institute, informed the House Oversight Committee about a private global cell phone that Hunter Biden’s business allegedly provided to Joe Biden while he was vice president. Schweizer shared the phone number and account information, hoping the committee would subpoena the records to determine the extent of communication between Hunter Biden, his business partners, and Joe Biden. Additionally, Hunter claimed that he was expected to give up to 50 percent of his earnings to Joe while also covering his father’s household expenses during Joe Biden’s vice presidency.35 Hunter is certainly exaggerating here, but still, wow. Read enough examples like this and you might begin to wonder if the system is rigged.


I have spent fifteen years in journalism, more than half of that inside the Beltway, and during that time the most powerful American has been Joe Biden. Donald Trump and Barack Obama changed the world in their respective ways, are larger-than-life figures, and are much easier to root for and against. They also burst onto the political scene and summited the political power structure basically all at once. Joe Biden, on the other hand, is the embodiment of the permanent political class. He’s held office for nearly two-thirds of his life with minimal interruption. He also, as he is fond of saying, gets stuff done.


There are lessons to be learned in this fact, even though his successes are often to my chagrin.


Breaking Biden was researched over hundreds of hours with a small group of some of the best investigators in all of journalism.


Upon embarking on this project well over a year before the date of publication, it was clear to me that even at eighty years old, already the oldest president in U.S. history, Joe Biden would run again. He has been a candidate, at least in his own mind, since he was a boy. The presidency—first coveting it, then living it—has defined his life. And Joe Biden has always attempted to live his life to the fullest.


So I started digging, and the facts and patterns that I’ve uncovered, I believe, are extraordinary, and I think you will agree. It is my sincere hope that Breaking Biden paints the most vivid and complete picture to date of the sum total of Joe Biden’s career, who made it possible, who has benefited from it most; how his legacy will be viewed; and what his rise to power says about our republic.


Over the course of researching and writing this book, I came to believe that though he does appear to be deteriorating both physically and mentally, that has led his critics to underestimate him, which has not served them well. Marginalizing him as unintelligent and incompetent is not only lazy, reductionist thinking, but it has been a colossal waste of time. The evidence is that Joe Biden continues, as of this writing, to accumulate unfathomable levels of power and influence that have enriched his family, benefited our geopolitical adversaries, and, in the end, made America a weaker and more divided place.


Joe Biden is neither a visionary nor an ideologue; he is an operator. He knows where the levers of power are, who controls them, and how to work them himself. He wasn’t always this way, but considering the sheer length of time and variety of responsibilities he has had in Washington, it’s hardly a surprise that he eventually figured things out. Modern Washington, DC, is run by a vast network of bureaucrats, consultants, donors, government officials, lobbyists, “dark money” philanthropists, and information gatekeepers in Big Tech and the establishment media. Collectively, they form the engine that keeps our capital running. Biden helped build this apparatus, and it is constantly working for his benefit, and his family’s.


But Joe Biden didn’t merely create the system over fifty years: he is the system incarnate. To understand him is to understand America’s present and our recent past.


And unless there is a course correction, he is a window into our future.










PART I THE BIDEN BUSINESS











CHAPTER 1 Joe Biden Can Do Anything



Before Joe Biden Jr. was born, his father had a taste of the good life, courtesy of his wealthy “uncle” Bill Sheene Jr., an Irishman who had amassed success selling sealants for coffins.


For the first five years of Joe Jr.’s life, his father, Joe Biden Sr., was in business with the Sheenes. During World War II, the Sheenes’ company received a lucrative deal with the U.S. government to supply their patented sealant for armor plates; Joe Sr. moved north to helm the company’s Boston branch. For a time, the family didn’t want for anything. They moved into a big home. His father and uncle would pilot company planes, hang out on the Sheenes’ yacht, and hunt pheasant together. For the first few years of his existence, Joe Biden Jr. was pampered, too, getting presents like fancy toys and even a pony.1 (Perhaps Joe was the original “dog-faced pony soldier.”)


As it is now, the business of unstabilizing geopolitical turmoil was a good one in the 1940s.


But the war ended, and in time, Sheene’s access to vast sums of government funds dried up. Thus, so did the Bidens’, at least for the time being.


Uncle “Big Bill” Sheene had a reputation as a philanderer and a gambler. He was also an alcoholic and was said to go on benders that could last for weeks. All of this vice might have been his method of coping with a debilitating stutter that caused him setbacks throughout his life. He did, however, dote lavishly on his “nephew,” Joe, whose own father also abused alcohol but had not struck the same luck in business.2


Bill Sheene’s son, Bill III, was Joe Biden Jr.’s pal, so Joe was invited to share in his favorite cousin’s largesse. He spent summers with the Sheenes through early adulthood. He rode horses with them and played on their golf course. They visited the dog races together. Joey absorbed the fashion, mien, and etiquette of their social strata, without actually belonging to it. His uncle supplied him a job, money, and even wheels.


Reporter Adam Entous, who has enjoyed direct access to the Biden family for several stories on their history and struggles, suggested Sheene’s business was crooked from the start. Uncle Bill relied on scary, mobbed-up dudes to get where he was going. Sheene had a professional relationship with Arthur Briscoe, a bootlegger who served stints in a mental hospital. He was diagnosed with “psychopathic personality.” Right after Briscoe began a relationship with a woman who had connections to the mob, his second wife was scalded to death in a bathtub, clearing the way for him to marry his mistress. “There was no autopsy and the death was declared an accident…. They couldn’t pin anything on him.” When his and Sheene’s new venture, the Maritime Welding & Repair Company, faced increasing gripes from maritime unions, he elicited the help of notorious mobster Frank Costello, and the picketing soon ceased.3


Joe Biden Sr. made one last grandiose bet with Bill Jr.: they bought an airport. But mere months into the venture, it failed, too. Bill Sheene took back the car he had given Joe Jr., and the Bidens moved in with Jean’s parents and siblings, the Finnegans, in Scranton.


This fall from grace presumably had an effect on Joe Jr., though the rest of his siblings—Valerie (born 1945), James (born 1949), and Frank (born 1953)—did not bask in luxury for much of their childhoods.


Joe’s earliest years would have overlapped with his father’s loss of the family’s previous status. This certainly proved to be a driving influence on the rest of Joe’s life, which is marked by constant striving to take his family to the next echelon of American society.




MORE BALLS THAN BRAINS


To hear Biden’s friends tell it, young Joe didn’t think, he just did—especially when it came to dares or fights. Locals still talk about it in Scranton. In his epic-length book on the 1988 presidential election, What It Takes: The Way to the White House, Pulitzer Prize winner Richard Ben Cramer illustrates this bravado with a couple of anecdotes. In 1953, ten-year-old Joey and his buddies would wander around town looking for something to do. One day, another youngster bet Joey and another kid five bucks that they wouldn’t be able to climb the town culm dump. Culm is the residual debris left over from coal mines that, in those days, was piled high as mountains and burned over the course of years, “lava-hot on the surface, except where it burned out underneath, and then there’d be a pocket of ash where you could fall right into the mountain, if you stepped on it.” While the other child chickened out, Joe, in a reckless dismissal of fate, took the dare and climbed up it, roughly two hundred feet to the top, covering millions of tons of fiery soot. According to Cramer, Joe never saw the five bucks, but he did catch a fleeting glimpse of immortality.4


In another incident, an older kid named Jimmy Kennedy (who later became a judge in Scranton) dared Joe to run under the wheels of a moving dump truck. He said later that he never thought that Joe would do it. But Joe did, so the story goes. He was small and ran between the front and back wheels, letting one of the axles go over him. As Cramer puts it, “Joe Biden had balls. Lot of times more balls than sense.”5


Poetic.


It was this reckless moxie at inappropriate moments that made young Joey Biden the talk of Scranton and stayed with him into older age. Those who knew him there were probably unsurprised when, for instance, in 2019, he challenged one prospective voter to a push-up contest after the man, himself eighty-three years old, dared to question him about his old age.6


Joe was scrappy as a youth, and he needed to be. After all, the family was struggling.


They finally were able to escape the cramped house with their extended family in it when he was eleven years old for (marginally) greener pastures: the tenements of Delaware. Joe repeated the third grade after moving to Wilmington. He claims in his memoirs that it was to have his tonsils and adenoids out, but there is certainly reason to speculate it could have been that he simply wasn’t keeping up.


Joe Sr. tried work cleaning boilers, selling doodads on a farm, and finally, selling cars, a profession that embarrassed him. According to Entous, even though the Bidens lived a “comfortable middle-class existence” and had that taste of the good life, Joe Sr. couldn’t shake the sense of failure, and that, in turn, instilled in the Biden children a desire to move up in the world.7 Joe Sr. had been someone once, and the Bidens identified as a feisty family of modest means fighting for a better life. This perspective typified the down-home culture of Delaware in the 1950s and ’60s, and Joe Biden Jr. had internalized it.


Even when Joe Jr. was still a boy, he started putting that philosophy into action.


For several years the Biden family lived across the street from Archmere Academy, one of the most prestigious Catholic schools in Delaware.8 Archmere occupies the former estate of John J. Raskob, a famous industrialist who was an executive for DuPont and General Motors, ran the Democratic National Committee (DNC), and is credited with building the Empire State Building. The school represents the pinnacle of the upper-crust Delaware identity to which Joe Biden aspired. Staring across the street at that impressive estate made an impression on the young Biden: he called it his “Oz.”9


By this time, however, Archmere was above the means and status of the family. Still, Joe’s grandiose vision that the Bidens would one day be among the elite had already taken hold. He needed Archmere. Joe was eventually admitted, even though his attendance at the school strained his family’s finances.


Biden, who was undersized at five feet one and 100 pounds, entered the school with a number of obstacles in his path. Aside from the socioeconomic realities and the fact that he was not (nor would he ever be) an academic all-star, he still had that stutter, which was severe enough that he was excused from having to stand up for requisite public speaking exercises. Though Joe himself said that he had begun to overcome the affliction by then, he still was nicknamed “Joe Impedimenta” by cruel peers.


The nicknames and bullying didn’t stop there. He was given another moniker by classmates: “Dash.” This wasn’t a reference to his speed on the football field, either. It was “like Morse code—dot dot dot, dash dash dash dash,” according to Biden himself.10


In case you’re searching for the origin of why adult Joe Biden seems to constantly fantasize about fistfighting people, I believe we’ve found the answer.


Nonetheless, he was ambitious and gradually harnessed some natural charisma, which propelled him to become class president;11 he was ineligible to be president of the entire student body due to too many demerits. He also was a standout on a dominant Archmere football team. Joe was already ascending to legendary status in his own mind both on and off the field. According to Biden family lore, Joe led eight football players in a walkout of the Charcoal Pit restaurant when they refused to serve a black team member inside.12 This was a relatively minor gesture in the scheme of the civil rights movement, but it became an indelible part of Joe’s political narrative. He even made sure to return to the restaurant as vice president with President Barack Obama. They made sure to eat indoors.


To listen or read Joe wax on about his high school glory days, you would have thought he grew into a studly character out of a Hollywood movie. Archmere still occupies a special place in his heart—he sent all three of his kids there and eventually brought the football team to the White House.13


Next up for Joe was the University of Delaware. During these years, Biden was a “teetotaling semi-jock with a sweater around his neck—the type who seemed more consumed with date nights than civil rights,” according to a 2020 New York Times profile. Biden played on football team during his freshman year, but left after one season ostensibly to focus on his lackluster grades.14 Biden eventually did graduate in 1965, ranking near the bottom of his class.


It was on a spring break trip in the Bahamas that he met the woman who would become his first wife, a Syracuse student named Neilia Hunter. She was at a pool party Joe crashed at a Nassau resort. They went out for hamburgers, which Joe claims were pricier than what he could afford, so she helped him pay for the tab. The way he describes it, the typically cocksure Joe was charmingly befuddled the entire date. He kept embarrassing himself while she fell in love with him. He believed by the end of the first date that they would be married. It’s a romantic story, if a bit saccharine.


Joe pursued his JD at Syracuse law school, but he really appeared to be pursuing Neilia. Joe’s academic record was pathetic, but that did not stop him from claiming he was on a full-ride scholarship.15 Though he was an academic dud, his political skills continued to develop. The only class he aced was legislation,16 garnering praise from his professor for his “presence” in the classroom.17 These were rare bright spots on his academic record.


Biden nearly flunked a course in law school when he was caught plagiarizing five(!) pages from a law review article published years earlier. Joe begged for forgiveness in a letter defending his name that, in retrospect, looks entirely unmoored from reality: “My intent was not to deceive anyone. For if it were, I would not have been so blatant,” he wrote in a letter to law school faculty. “If I had intended to cheat, would I have been so stupid?”18


Passages of the letter read like the lunatic ravings of a desperate man.


“I value my word above all else,” Biden pleaded. “This is a fact which is known to all those who are or have been acquainted with my character.”


Years later we would know for certain that his pleas were all a put-on to try to avoid more humiliation and maybe even expulsion, as this would not be the last time he was busted plagiarizing.


He didn’t so much graduate from law school as he did survive it. But he did marry Neilia during this time, so it wasn’t entirely unproductive.


Newlywed Joe even bought his new bride a dog. He named it Senator.19







THE ROAD TO THE SENATE


After leaving law school, Joe Biden worked at a corporate law firm in Wilmington and as a public defender. Though this stint would later be used to claim progressive bona fides, it didn’t last long.20 He was mere moments away from entering politics, a field where he would remain for the next half century.


It was clear early in his professional career that Joe did not have a defined political ideology. He was less interested in issues than image. Politics was a channel to get respect and elevate his family. In 1970, at twenty-seven years old, armed with youth, ambition, and an intuitive sense of which ways the political winds were blowing, he officially entered the political arena, running a successful campaign for the New Castle County Council.21


During this time, Joe and Neilia were rapidly expanding the Biden family. Joseph Robinette “Beau” Biden III was born on February 3, 1969; Robert Hunter Biden came almost exactly a year later on February 4, 1970; and Naomi Christina “Amy” Biden was brought into the world on November 8, 1971.


In 1972, Joe mounted his first campaign for the U.S. Senate, successfully defeating former governor and two-term senator J. Caleb Boggs in a major upset. Boggs, who was sixty-three, got outmaneuvered by the fresh-faced, twenty-nine-year-old Joe. Biden effectively portrayed himself as a high-energy, forward-thinking outsider, tuned in to hip issues like civil rights, ending the Vietnam War, and protecting the environment.


Meanwhile, the Biden family machine was being assembled. The family shrewdly operated as a single unit during the campaign, modeling themselves after the Kennedys. During the run, they acted as if they all were on the ballot, answering questions in the first-person plural, using language like “We haven’t decided what our position is on that” or “We aren’t running for president.”22 Joe’s twenty-seven-year-old sister, Valerie, a former homecoming queen at the University of Delaware, broke a glass ceiling by running the campaign.23 Biden kinfolk would organize coffee klatches and canvas door-to-door, Joe’s brother James “Jim” Biden served as finance chairman for the campaign, and brother Frank Biden organized student volunteers on campuses.


The clannish mentality of the Finnegans, Jean’s family, profoundly influenced how she raised her own children. Growing up, they already thought of themselves as a dynasty; the world just didn’t know it yet. His mother would say, “There’s nothing in life but family,” and “You’re a Biden. You can do anything. There’s nobody, anywhere, better than you. Maybe just as good, in a different way… but not any goddamn better.”24


Biden also benefited from something during this Senate run that might seem familiar: an information blackout. Boggs, his Republican opponent and long-standing Delaware incumbent, was set to release a slew of damning political ads against Biden in the week leading up to the election. In a stroke of good fortune for Joe, the unions staged a strike the night before the ads ran and the paper shut down. The ads didn’t reach the public on a wide scale.


It reminds me of a recent presidential election.


Biden’s ads in 1972, unlike the oppo research against him, did hit a vast audience and were apparently quite effective. The Biden campaign stressed how he, and not the aging Boggs, was in touch with the real issues facing voters. The strategy, coupled with the oppression of Boggs’s attack ads, was enough to give Joe Biden a three-thousand-vote victory on November 7, 1972.


The full story of the suppression of those Boggs ads remains a mystery. At the time, it seemed like Joe simply got tremendously lucky, but prosecutor Charles Brandt later insinuated there was foul play involved in the episode, in his book I Heard You Paint Houses, on mafia hitman Frank Sheeran. (The book would later be adapted into the movie The Irishman, directed by Martin Scorsese and starring Robert De Niro, Al Pacino, and Joe Pesci.) Sheeran was an infamous Teamsters union official. Brandt claims that someone visited Sheeran to ask if he could prevent the evening and morning papers from running Caleb Boggs’s campaign advertisements. “I told him I would hire some people and put them on the picket line for him. They were people nobody would mess with,” Sheeran is quoted as saying.


Was Joe Biden aware of any of this? Brandt claims he has no way of knowing.25


The world may never know for certain if Biden’s 1972 Senate election was rigged, or if Joe knew what measures organized crime had taken on his behalf.


Biden would be only thirty years and forty-four days old when he was sworn in, making him one of the youngest senators in U.S. history. Yet his life would be immeasurably different that day than it was on election night, because Joe Biden was about to experience ineffable tragedy.







JOE GETS KNOCKED DOWN


One of Joe Biden’s favorite lines is one he attributes to his father: “[T]he measure of a man wasn’t how many times or how hard he got knocked down, but how fast he got back up.”26 That wisdom never mattered more than after the events of December 18, 1972.


Just days before he was to be sworn in following his Senate win, Joe’s first wife, Neilia Hunter Biden, age thirty, and their infant daughter, Naomi, were killed in a car crash when their station wagon collided with a hay truck while they were out shopping for Christmas presents. His two young sons, Hunter and Beau, were badly injured in the accident, requiring extended hospitalization, but survived. Hunter suffered from head injuries and Beau from multiple fractures. The accident, unsurprisingly, took an incalculable toll on Joe.


He contemplated quitting the Senate before he even got started, but Majority Leader Mike Mansfield (D-MT) dangled prestigious committee assignments in front of him to encourage him to stay. The Senate passed a resolution in order to allow Joe to be sworn in bedside to Beau and Hunter while they were still hospitalized.27


Joe said in his memoir, Promise Me, Dad, that he contemplated suicide,28 but ultimately his boys saved his life.


Young and handsome and a newly elected senator who’d won in upset fashion, he was already becoming a celebrity, but it became a media frenzy when tragedy befell Joe Biden. These circumstances enhanced his public image, but it also made him wary of the press. He was reluctant to be open with journalists, but he decided to sit with Kitty Kelley for a Washingtonian magazine profile in 1974, a decision that would poison the media for him forever.


The senator’s openness about the tragedy led to some uncomfortable—and, frankly, inappropriate—moments. “My beautiful millionaire wife,” he called Neilia, bizarrely. (Neilia’s parents owned a diner.)29 Joe repeatedly spoke of Neilia in lustful tones. “Neilia was my very best friend, my greatest ally, my sensuous lover. The longer we lived together the more we enjoyed everything from sex to sports,” he told the journalist, for no apparent reason. “She had the best body of any woman I ever saw. She looks better than a Playboy bunny, doesn’t she?” he said, showing Kelley a photo of Neilia in a bikini. No matter how long and arduous the campaigning days could be, Joe boasted, he still would be able to “satisfy” Neilia “in bed.”


Do you get it, ladies? Joe isn’t just an elected leader. He’s a tiger in the sack and he wants you to know it.


Perhaps he was trying to impress the young reporter because she was blond. Maybe he was cribbing off the Kennedys again.


“I know I could have easily made the White House with Neilia,” Joe crowed during the interview. “And my family still expects me to be there one of these days.” I guess he got that one right.


Whatever the explanation for his forthrightness, heavy pervert vibes came through in the published article.


After the interview, in which Kelley compared him to Jay Gatsby (not a compliment), he blamed the journalist for making him seem “slightly unhinged.”30


The interview has haunted Joe ever since, causing him to hate the press. Biden was apparently so spooked that he wouldn’t do another interview for fifteen years, when he spoke to the Washington Post’s Lois Romano during his first presidential run in 1987. This is a statistic that sounds fake in the era of the modern 24/7 news cycle, but it isn’t.31


There is no doubt a straight line from the Washingtonian article to his unwillingness to engage with the media as president nearly fifty years later.


Biden would recall his infamous chat with Kitty Kelley, claiming that the young journalist “cried at my desk” after the intense reaction to the piece. “I found myself consoling her, saying, ‘Don’t worry. It’s OK. I’m doing fine.’ I was such a sucker,” Joe said.32


To his credit, Biden does occasionally have a way of cutting to the quick.


Part of Biden’s grieving process, it appears, was to embellish elements of the story of Neilia and Amy’s death to enhance his own personal narrative. In several speeches years later, he not only attributed the accident to the other driver, but he also falsely claimed that the man was drinking. At one point he said that “a guy who allegedly—and I never pursued it—drank his lunch instead of eating it, broadsided my family.” In another instance he said, “It was an errant driver who stopped to drink instead of drive and hit—a tractor trailer—hit my children and my wife and killed them.” This statement was as dishonest as it was self-serving. The driver in question was not drinking, and was, in fact, not even responsible for the accident. Neilia had veered into his lane and did not heed a stop sign. Later, the driver’s family publicly stated that Biden’s statements were “hurtful and untrue.” Biden called and apologized to them after CNN “exonerated” the driver in an independent report.33







JOE GETS BACK UP


In his telling, the first time Joe Biden saw Jill Jacobs, the future Dr. Jill Biden, was in an ad for tourism at Wilmington Airport in March 1975. “She was blond and gorgeous,” he wrote in his memoir Promises to Keep. “That’s the kind of woman I’d like to meet,” Joe thought to himself.34 Jill, whose first marriage ended in 1975, had befriended Frank Biden years earlier at the University of Delaware. Frank gave the newly available Joe her phone number, and, according to author Ben Schreckinger in his book The Bidens, Joe “sweet-talked her into breaking a date” so they could go to dinner and a movie. Jill, a twenty-three-year-old college student who went through her divorce that very year, was a bit overwhelmed going out with a senator, particularly one who was a “natty dresser.” Still, Joe won her over at the dinner.


Jill had actually met Biden’s first wife, Neilia, in the 1970s. When Jill was a college student at the University of Delaware, she was married to Bill Stevenson, a Wilmington nightclub owner. He was an early supporter of Joe’s, and he and Jill attended the Bidens’ party on election night in 1972 at the Hotel Du Pont. After noticing how calm and staid Neilia was all night, Jill introduced herself.35


Jill was the daughter of a homemaker and a banker from Philadelphia. She was also the eldest of five sisters, and, like the Bidens, the Jacobs prized family loyalty. Schreckinger writes that she still “found the Biden clan intimidating.”36 But Jill turned out to be a natural fit and would eventually become the matriarch of the family we know today. When she and Joe tied the knot in 1977, she became a stepmother to Beau, then eight, and Hunter, seven, before she gave birth to Ashley Biden on June 8, 1981.


Intriguing biographical details in the ensuing years are few and far between. Joe had the job he wanted and was rebuilding his family. He tried to find ways to put a bit more money into his pocket, but unfortunately for him, he inherited his father’s willingness to engage in suboptimal business ventures. This is, as it turns out, a family trait.


In an effort to officially join Delaware’s elite society, Joe purchased a compound-like home that maybe one day would be the Biden dynasty’s equivalent of the Kennedys’ summer retreat in Hyannis Port, Massachusetts. This would be the culmination of decades of Biden family striving.


When it came to the house, Joe’s vision has teetered on the verge of obsession. “The first thing you’ve got to know about Joe is the house. Probably the first thing he’d show you anyway,” begins Richard Ben Cramer’s profile of Biden in his 1992 political classic, What It Takes. The house in question was a sprawling, 1930s-era du Pont mansion Joe rescued from demolition in 1975. Joe’s dreams for that property never quite materialized, but he did manage to sell it, at a tidy profit, twenty years later, to an executive from MBNA, a bank that had been a major supporter of Biden’s.37


Things appeared to be on a relatively even keel for Biden, at least compared to his whirlwind first three decades. They got much more exciting in the summer of 1987.







THE WILDEST YEAR OF JOE’S LIFE


People wanted Joe Biden to run for president in 1987—smart people. Jill wanted him to run, too; even in moments when he got cold feet, Jill encouraged him to continue. “He wouldn’t leave the podium until he knew he had the connect,” Cramer wrote in What It Takes. He lived for “the connect.” That is the moment in the big speech when the orator has the audience eating out the palm of his hand. The statesman—now a showman—was making the audience feel exactly how they wanted to feel. Joe was hooked on that sensation like it was heroin, and he would chase that dragon all day long.


There was a big problem, though: he didn’t have a message, and everyone around him knew it. He decried the materialism and individualism of the Reagan era, which was drawing to a close, while trying to channel John F. Kennedy, according to the New York Times.38 This was a sensible approach. After all, Biden was a Democrat and only forty-four years old, just a year older than JFK when he was elected president. And they shared, to some degree, a certain preppy, youthful, Irish-American appeal.


Reagan bad. Kennedy good. Simple.


But what was his platform? His staff constantly quarreled over what the energetic and ambitious Biden should say when he was on the trail trying to make that connect.


They never found their answer.


By all accounts, the campaign was a hot mess.


Joe Biden claimed that he marched for the civil rights movement, which never happened. He claimed he was at Selma, which he wasn’t. In the very speech in which he announced his run, he quoted Bobby Kennedy—without actually attributing the quote to him.39 All of this is Bidenesque.


In 1987, the New York Times reported that in an August speech Biden made in Iowa, he plagiarized the words of the British Labour Party leader Neil Kinnock. Kinnock began his speech: “Why am I the first Kinnock in a thousand generations to be able to get to university?” Then, pointing to his wife in the audience, he continued: “Why is Glenys the first woman in her family in a thousand generations to be able to get to university? Was it because all our predecessors were thick?” Biden began his speech by saying, “I started thinking as I was coming over here, why is it that Joe Biden is the first in his family ever to go to a university?” Then, pointing to his wife, he continued: “Why is it that my wife who is sitting out there in the audience is the first in her family to ever go to college? Is it because our fathers and mothers were not bright? Is it because I’m the first Biden in a thousand generations to get a college and a graduate degree that I was smarter than the rest?”40


Cringe-inducing.


Biden mirrored Kinnock’s words, lifting lines verbatim, right down to the conclusion.


Kinnock ended his speech with the words, “Does anybody really think that they didn’t get what we had because they didn’t have the talent or the strength or the endurance or the commitment? Of course not. It was because there was no platform upon which they could stand.”


And Biden: “No, it’s not because they weren’t as smart. It’s not because they didn’t work as hard. It’s because they didn’t have a platform upon which to stand.”41


Joe Biden speaks endlessly about the importance of his integrity as if the Bidens have an outsized amount of it. But he was living a lie. Now he had another plagiarism scandal. However, unlike at Syracuse Law, there would be consequences this time.42 His chaotic campaign was doomed. To make matters worse, his law school plagiarism had hit the news cycle at this point, making it all the clearer that it was time to exit the race.43


Yet this first presidential run was not without its silver linings. The most important of which is that had this presidential bid ever developed any “Joementum,” he probably would be dead.


Joe Biden suffered two brain aneurysms in February 1988.44 Biden wrote in his memoir, Promises to Keep, that he was giving a speech at the University of Rochester when he began to feel sick and lost his train of thought (more than usual). He later passed out in a hotel after feeling “lightning flashing inside my head, a powerful electrical surge—and then a rip of pain like I’d never felt before.”45 He returned home but was rushed to the hospital the next day.


He underwent two surgeries at what is now Walter Reed National Military Medical Center to treat the aneurysms, one in February and one in May. Doctors told him his chances of dying on the operating table were a coin toss, and if he were to survive, a full recovery was not guaranteed. A priest even read him his last rites. A doctor said that “the side of the brain that the first aneurysm is on controls your ability to speak,”46 which meant permanent loss of speech was a risk with surgery. After the ordeal, Biden’s face was partly paralyzed, but by August, he had recovered and returned to work.47


Had Joe continued on the campaign trail and had success, had he pursued that “connect” with audiences while traveling up and down the country for months on end, it may well have been a death sentence.


Ever since he was a boy, his family had imbued him with the mantra that there was a plan for Joey Biden. He had a destiny. In this moment at least, it’s hard to say they were wrong.


Joe Biden had saved his own life with his incompetent campaign.


The first presidential run was successful in at least one other regard as well: it solidified the political foundation that would undergird Biden for his entire career.


His sister, Valerie, managed the campaign, as she had his earlier Senate campaigns,48 but Biden’s political operation had also scaled up to include a number of bona fide professionals, many of whom are with Biden to this day. The 1988 campaign staff included future White House staffers Ron Klain and Mike Donilon, as well as Ted Kaufman and Mark Gitenstein, two of Biden’s closest confidants outside the White House.49 Polling prodigy Pat Caddell, who had burst onto the political scene as a twenty-one-year-old during Biden’s first Senate race in 1972, was also on the Biden bus. (Toward the end of his life, Caddell, who had a wide populist streak, would become a daily guest on my radio show, Breitbart News Daily.)


By 1988, Biden was a national brand with the professional political machinery to match his ambition, but it would be twenty years before he would try another run.








THE BORKING AND THE HIGH-TECH LYNCHING


Back on the campaign trail in 1987, Joe Biden had a major distraction that no doubt interfered with his ability to run for president: his day job. Biden was the chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee at the time, and President Ronald Reagan had just nominated Judge Robert Bork to replace retiring Supreme Court justice Lewis Powell. Biden would have to lead the confirmation hearings.


This was going to be awkward.


First of all, Biden had been in the presidential race for only three weeks when the nomination came down. But more importantly, legally speaking, Joe Biden wasn’t fit to carry Robert Bork’s powdered wig.


Biden was a famously dreadful law student and an unaccomplished lawyer. His academic and professional careers are plagued by intellectual dishonesty. He barely even used the law degree he barely even earned. Nonetheless, he would seize the opportunity to become one of the most influential persons shaping the Supreme Court in the last fifty years.


Biden spearheaded the Democrats’ effort to stop Bork from getting confirmed. Biden initially indicated that he could possibly be convinced to vote to confirm Bork, but after meeting with the Federation of Women Lawyers and other interest groups, he changed his position. He would focus his attack on Bork’s positions on abortion and alleged civil rights illiberalism, but the true rationale for rejecting his nomination was that he was just too conservative. Liberal Harvard Law professor Laurence Tribe suggested a new criterion: “not fitness as an individual, but balance of the court as a whole.”50


“Balance on the court as a whole.” There is no constitutional mandate for a balanced court, but this baseless standard provided a rationale to torpedo Bork’s nomination.


The Democrats were successful in stopping Bork’s ascent to the court, making history by preventing the confirmation of a Supreme Court justice, according to Washington Post columnist George Will, “on naked political grounds.”51


Ultimately, Anthony Kennedy was confirmed to the court in Bork’s place. In a vacuum, it was a historic win for Democrats; Kennedy often broke with conservatives throughout his Supreme Court career, including as the deciding vote in 2015’s landmark Obergefell decision, which legalized same-sex marriage across the country.52


Still, the victory certainly had its drawbacks. Borking became a slang term for smearing a nominee to the court and has become the go-to tactic to hold up conservative nominees ever since.


But Biden wasn’t at all troubled by his role in politicizing the court, as evidenced by the fact that he would try the exact same approach in 1991, this time with different results, when he led the infamous effort to keep Clarence Thomas from getting confirmed.


During that confirmation hearing, the Senate Judiciary Committee, chaired by Biden, heard the testimony of Anita Hill, a former Thomas adviser who accused him of sexual harassment. The saga brought forth many embarrassing allegations used to humiliate and smear Thomas, a black conservative. Under Biden’s questioning, Hill testified that Thomas once mentioned a pornographic film star named “Long Dong Silver” to her and, at one point, asked her who had put a pubic hair on his can of cola.53


The claims were likely apocryphal—and even if true, they were hardly grounds for destroying a man’s name—but the images were lodged firmly in the public’s minds. That Thomas had overcome an impoverished childhood in Jim Crow–era Savannah, Georgia, to become one of the country’s most prominent jurists was no longer of interest. Who has time to talk about a man’s character and accomplishments when we haven’t solved the mystery of the rogue pube?


When Thomas finally had the chance to defend himself, he delivered one of the most searing statements in modern American history:




From my standpoint, as a black American, as far as I’m concerned, it is a high-tech lynching for uppity blacks who in any way deign to think for themselves, to do for themselves, to have different ideas. And it is a message that unless you kowtow to an old order, this is what will happen to you. You will be lynched, destroyed, caricatured by a committee of the U.S. Senate, rather than hung from a tree.





Thomas was confirmed, but largely thanks to Biden’s “high-tech lynching,” he has been in the crosshairs of the Left ever since. The tactics Biden deployed against Bork and Thomas have become commonplace. They are designed not just to stop the confirmation of conservative and originalist jurists, but to personally humiliate them. Andrew Breitbart referred to this tactic as “the politics of personal destruction.”


In recent years, Biden has stated that he believed Hill, but Thomas and his wife claimed Biden called them after reading subsequent FBI investigative reports and stated that there was “no merit” to Hill’s claims.54 Of course, Biden would prove to be more skeptical of similar accusations later made against himself.


Biden’s playbook has been an enduring stain on the court. The same scheme was trotted out against Kennedy’s successor, Brett Kavanaugh, leading to an even bigger media circus than the one surrounding Thomas. When Senate Republicans blocked then president Obama’s nomination of Merrick Garland in 2016, Democrats cried that Senate Majority Leader Mitch McConnell was playing politics with the court. But Biden and the Democrats had beaten them to it by decades. What’s more, the Republicans never turned Garland into an object of personal hatred in the way Democrats have done with Thomas and Kavanaugh.


Biden served thirty-six years in the Senate, and these twin Supreme Court nomination spectacles were certainly the most essential part of his legacy. The only close second would be the Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act, which was debated and passed in the mid-1990s. I explain and discuss the legacy of that controversial law in the final chapter of this book.


Biden himself would prefer if he were known for the Violence Against Women Act (passed in 1994 and renewed in 2022) or his role in progress toward peace in the Balkans (which he catalogs in excruciating detail in his second memoir, Promise Me, Dad ). But those did not have nearly the practical nor cultural effect as the borking of Bork and the high-tech lynching of Thomas.


Joe Biden came into the Senate as a show pony. Though he never became a workhorse, he did learn the machinations of Washington while he was there. This put him in a prime position to make that apparatus work for him, both politically and for the financial benefit of his family.













CHAPTER 2 The Biden Dynasty



Beginning in that first Senate campaign when he was twenty-nine years old, Joe Biden’s political inner circle, when possible, has been his family. Having spent nearly a decade in Washington myself, I can tell you that is the correct instinct. Political loyalties are fickle, and most everyone surrounding powerful people wants something from them—or many things. Generally speaking, family members will have your best interest at heart more often than strangers will. It is no wonder that large, tight-knit families have dominated American politics since our nation’s founding. The Kennedys and Bushes come most quickly to mind, but families like the Trumps, the Clintons, the Roosevelts, the Rockefellers, the Adamses, and Delaware’s own du Ponts will dot American history books forever. Joe believes that the Biden name is worthy of that rarefied air.


Since his early political days, he has envisioned a Biden family dynasty. He has brought in siblings to staff campaigns. He fantasized about Beau as president and Hunter as Beau’s most trusted adviser and speechwriter. He even attempted to cure cancer with his son-in-law (as Joe would say, not a joke!).


If I’m being charitable, this is an ambitious vision. In all honesty, it’s ludicrous. He was never going to get his dynasty. Once you get to know the Bidens, I think you’ll agree.




JOE BIDEN


The patriarch of the Biden clan and the leader of a dynasty in his own mind, Joe Biden has had more moments of public humiliation than any other living American. Aside from the personal failings that derailed his 1988 presidential campaign, or the aforementioned “I probably have a much higher IQ than you” rant directed at a journalist—a low-IQ attack, if there ever was one—Joe’s career in the public eye has featured cringeworthy moments throughout.


The best argument that President Biden does not have rapidly diminishing mental function is that he has consistently had cognitive lapses.


In fact, Biden claimed that he was “constantly tested” for cognitive decline when on the campaign trail in 2020.1 Yet just a month later, Joe said he hadn’t taken any cognitive tests and lashed out when asked if he had. “No, I haven’t taken a test. Why the hell would I take a test?” Biden told a reporter representing the National Association of Black Journalists and National Association of Hispanic Journalists. “Come on, man. That’s like saying you, before you got on this program, you take a test where you’re taking cocaine or not. What do you think? Huh? Are you a junkie?”2


Asking a BIPOC journalist if he or she is a junkie would have been grounds for cancellation from public life if Biden were a conservative, but this attack came and went from the news cycle rather quickly. The perks of being a Democrat.


What’s more, forgetting if you’ve ever taken a mental acuity test might be a sign of waning mental acuity, but I’m not a doctor, so who am I to say?


Now on the other side of eighty, it is clear that Joe Biden is not of sound body and mind, but his doctors have not been forthcoming with us. As with most things, Biden denies the obvious truth about his health until he has no other option. Based on a physical exam conducted in early 2023, his afflictions are merely acid reflux and a stiff gait. This beggars belief. Dr. Neal Kassel, the doctor who performed both aneurysm surgeries on Biden in 1988, told Politico that Biden fully recovered and, by the 2020 campaign, was “every bit as sharp as he was 31 years ago.”3


That’s great news. Now can we see the results of the mental acuity tests? Oh, right, we don’t know if he has actually taken any.


In a telling incident in June of 2023, Biden was photographed with clear indentations on his face from a CPAP machine, a medical device used to treat sleep apnea. His official checkups had not disclosed sleep apnea or any similar condition. The face imprints forced the White House to again acknowledge that Biden’s health was not so perfect. A White House spokesman admitted that the president had been using a CPAP machine in “recent weeks,” but also confusingly asserted that he had disclosed his issues with sleep apnea since 2008. The problem is new and fleeting, but also old news because he mentioned it fifteen years ago.4


That’s enough spin to make a figure skater dizzy. If Biden World goes to this much effort to conceal the true nature of a common disorder, imagine what else they might be hiding.


There is just about as much solid information about Joe Biden’s metamorphosing physical body as there is about his mind, which is to say, not a lot. His hair certainly looked thinner in 1987 than it does as president. His teeth are considerably whiter as well. The particular tint of his porcelain veneers he sports as of 2023 is closer to Benjamin Moore “Chantilly Lace” house paint than it is to the hue of actual human teeth. Neither Biden nor White House spokespeople publicly address these things.


In 2022, Graydon Carter’s Air Mail newsletter quoted Dr. Marc Lowenberg, a cosmetic dentist, who unfurled a brutal dis at Biden’s chompers: “1 out of 10 says, ‘I don’t want my teeth to look like Joe Biden’s.’ I’m not kidding.”5


Other doctors told Air Mail that they believed that Biden had undergone cosmetic procedures on his eyelids and neckline—just not recently enough to be terribly effective. “If you look at old photos, he does seem to have had a tighter neckline than would be expected,” one of the doctors told Air Mail. “I don’t think it was within the last 10 or 15 years because it looks like it’s worn off a bit.”6


I asked the White House specifically which procedures the president has undergone and why he insists on making this particular element of his very public life a mystery. I did not get a response.


That said, I am much less interested in presidential nips and tucks than I am in the true explanation for why Joe Biden says some of the outlandish things he says. At a March 2, 2020, campaign event, Joe went off-script and started to quote from the Declaration of Independence, only he was unable to retrieve the actual words from the recesses of his mind. Instead, he freestyled: “We hold these truths to be self-evident, all men and women created by, go, you know you know the thing,” the future president of the United States scatted.


Here’s “the thing” that we all know: “We hold these truths to be self-evident, that all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable Rights, that among these are Life, Liberty and the pursuit of Happiness.”


Biden added an extraneous “women” to the immortal words that shaped our nation, as if to subtly imply that our Founding Fathers were sexist. It’s a nice little woke update for our modern times.


My favorite Biden tall tale was perhaps his most haughty. It occurred on what was assuredly a big day for Joe. It was June 26, 2017, and he was addressing a small group in Wilmington, Delaware. The former vice president, surrounded by children and their parents, was celebrating the dedication of the Joseph Biden Jr. Aquatic Center. Biden’s remarks went on for more than twelve minutes, which was at least eleven longer than necessary. Joe was savoring the moment. At one point, he actually seemed to bring his speech to a dramatic close, only to give himself a curtain call no one asked for, continuing to regale the audience for yet another minute. The highlights of the remarks were two of the most surreal stories told by any American, ever. They might be familiar to you:




Corn Pop was a bad dude, and he ran a bunch of bad boys.


And I did, yeah he—and back in those days—you—to show how things have changed—one of the things you had to use, if you used pomade in your hair, you had to wear a bathing cap. And so, he was up on the board, wouldn’t listen to me.


I said, “Hey, Esther, you! Off the board or I’ll come up and drag you off.” Well, he came off. And he said, “I’ll meet you outside.”


My car [pointing off-screen]—this was mostly—these were all public housing behind you. My car—there was a gate out here. I parked my car outside the gate. And I—he said, “I’ll be waiting for ya.” He was waiting there with three guys in straight razors. Not a joke.


There was a guy named Bill Wright, Mouse. The only white guy, and he did all the pools. He was the mechanic. And I said, “What am I gonna do?” And he said, “Come down here in the basement where all the mechanics—where all the pool filter is.” You know the chain—there used to be a chain that went across the deep end. He cut off a six-foot length chain, he fold[ed] it up, he said. “You walk out with that chain. And you walk to the car and say, ‘You may cut me, man, but I’m gonna wrap this chain around your head.’ ” I said, “You’re kidding me.” And he said, “No if you don’t, don’t come back,” and he was right.


So, I walked out with the chain. And I walked up to my car—and in those days remember the straight razors you’d bang on the curb, gettin’ ’em rusty and puttin’ ’em in a rain barrel, get ’em rusty? And I looked at him, but I was smart, then. I said, “First of all,” I said, “when I tell you to get off the board, you get off the board, and I’ll kick you out again, but I shouldn’t have called you Esther Williams, and I apologize for that. I apologize.” But I didn’t know that apology was gonna work.


He said, “You apologize to me?” I said, “I apologize but not for throwing you out, but I apologize for what I said.” He said, “OK,” closed that straight razor, and my heart began to beat again.7





I’m tempted to spend the rest of this book analyzing just this single passage. The text is that rich. Biden’s (almost assuredly fictional) swimming pool race war story has it all: a rusty razor blade, old-timey hair product, goofy but charming nicknames, DIY weaponry, arcane references, a happy ending, and a heroic arc for our protagonist, young Joey Biden. Perfection.


The speech somehow got wackier from there: “I got hairy legs that turn blond in the sun,” Joe told the crowd of children and parents. “And the kids used to come up and reach in the pool and rub my leg down so it was straight and watch the hair come back up again. They’d look at it. And so, I learned about roaches, I learned about kids jumping on my lap. And I’ve loved kids jumping on my lap.”8


Picturing Biden letting children rub down his hairy legs, then relishing the youngsters in his lap, is revolting. Yet the most outrageous part of this quote is Biden’s reference to “roaches,” which is a racial slur against black people.9


Yes, Joe Biden called black children “roaches” while giving a speech surrounded by black children. In 2017.


The media completely ignored this remark, just as they had ignored so many other racially insensitive comments by Biden over the decades.


In 2006 he said, “In Delaware, the largest growth of population is Indian Americans, moving from India. You cannot go to a 7-11 or a Dunkin’ Donuts unless you have a slight Indian accent.”10 I know that sounds like a bad joke that didn’t land, but Joe implored the audience that “I’m not joking.”


He called Obama “the first mainstream African American who is articulate and bright and clean” on the same day he filed official paperwork to run for president in 2008.11 In August 2012, just months before he and Obama faced reelection, he told a crowd of Virginia voters that Mitt Romney’s Republican Party would “put y’all back in chains.”12


Insane.


Responding to a question about segregation during the Democrat presidential debate in 2019, Biden implored parents, “Play the radio, make sure the television, excuse me, make sure you have a record player on at night, make sure that kids hear words, a kid coming from a very poor school, or a very poor background, will hear four million fewer words spoken by the time they get there.”13


After 250 years of racial division, who knew America’s solution was right in front of our noses? Record players.


To list and analyze all of Joe Biden’s inexplicable brain freezes would fill volumes. In 2008, he told a paraplegic man to stand up during a campaign rally.14 He said in 2020 that his campaign attorneys were visiting with “voter registration physicians.”15 He called future second gentleman Doug Emhoff Kamala Harris’s wife.16 While giving a speech in 2022, he called out to recently deceased congresswoman Jackie Walorski as if she were in the audience.17 (Maybe that wasn’t a gaffe; maybe Joe is actually a medium.)


He claimed that “more than half of the women on the—in my administration are women.”18 This is true, though I hope that number is a lot closer to 100 percent than 50 percent.


He even once bizarrely and inappropriately started to laugh while discussing a woman who had lost two children to fentanyl overdoses in 2023.19


Also in 2023, near the end of a rambling speech in an Irish pub, President Biden was standing next to star rugby player Rob Kearney, whom he referred to as “a hell of a rugby player, and he beat the hell out of the Black and Tans.” He meant to say the Ireland team beat the All Blacks, which is the name of the internationally renowned New Zealand rugby team. The “Black and Tans” were British security forces who fought the Irish Republican Army nearly one hundred years ago. Also on that trip to Ireland, Biden encouraged an audience to “go lick the world.”20


If I had to summarize Joe Biden’s fifty years in politics in one of his quotes, it would be this one from the Iowa State Fair in 2019: “We choose truth over facts.”21


Ponder that one long enough and you can actually feel your own brain hurt.


Joe Biden’s words have gotten him into trouble plenty of times, but so have his hands… and his nose. Throughout his career, he has been seen engaging in unambiguously creepy behavior. Though he has evaded any consequences for this pattern, it does cause him his fair share of public embarrassment. Take, for example, the interview with Kitty Kelley where he repeatedly told the journalist about hot sex with Neilia.


Joe never changed.


In a May 2020 interview with Wired, Joe described his sister Valerie as “the love of my life.” The comment is ridiculously off-putting, yet there was a complete media blackout of that story. I couldn’t find this quote in Google or another major search engine and had to rewatch the interview just to make sure I hadn’t hallucinated it.22


Videos abound on the Internet of Joe holding on to women and girls, seeming to savor them. Touches that linger beyond an appropriate interval. Occasionally he’ll brush back a girl’s hair. At a swearing-in ceremony in 2015, Joe appeared to whisper into the ear of Democrat senator Chris Coons’s thirteen-year-old daughter.23 What is it that Joe could have possibly been saying to this poor girl?


Then… oh, no… no, Joe, please no!… the then vice president went in for a little kiss.


In 2016, a hug with a purple-pantsuit-clad Hillary Clinton lasted for seventeen seconds, even though she literally tried to tap out of the embrace twice as if she were in a mixed martial arts cage fight.24


The most infamous example of surprise PDA inflicted on unexpecting women while cameras were rolling was when he caressed the shoulders of Secretary of Defense Ash Carter’s wife while her husband delivered a speech. Biden put his nose in her hair and drew in a breath, seeming to indulge in the aroma. All this with her husband standing right there next to them!


Ick.


There are other examples. Many of them, in fact.


On a trip to Europe in the summer of 2023, Biden was videoed attempting to nibble a baby girl. It’s the type of behavior that would be considered odd if he had done it to his own flesh and blood.25


No wonder he ended up campaigning from his basement in 2020. What campaign manager worth his or her salt would let him out in public?


If this is what he does in front of the cameras, what is Joe like in private?


He’s certainly behaved inappropriately and abused his power, but none of the aforementioned instances are violent, and, let’s be honest, many of them are kinda funny. What is not funny is what is alleged by Tara Reade.


Reade (who legally changed her name to McCabe in 1998 after experiencing harassment throughout her life26) was a congressional aide to Biden in 1992 and 1993. In March 2020, she alleged that Biden had sexually assaulted her during that time.


As Reade tells it, during the nine months she worked for him, Biden harassed her in multiple ways.27 She claimed there were multiple instances of inappropriate touching on her shoulders and her neck, as well as unwanted senatorial fingers run through her hair.28 She also claims he made her serve drinks at a fundraiser because he liked her legs.29


However, the most serious allegation is that in one instance, the then senator pushed her up against a wall and kissed her, and then, according to Reade, “[h]is hands went underneath my clothing and he was touching me in my private areas and without my consent.” She told NPR that Biden penetrated her vagina with his fingers. Reade said she was unable to recall the exact location of the event but said it was likely in the basement of the Senate building in 1993.30


Reade said she filed a formal complaint to the Senate personnel office, but no police report was filed. While employment records confirm she did work in Biden’s Senate office, the alleged complaint has not surfaced.31 A Freedom of Information Act request has been filed, but at the time of this writing, it had returned no answers. She eventually filed a police report in Washington, DC, in 2020.


The establishment media was, yet again, uninterested in the story. After all, there is a dearth of solid evidence supporting Reade’s claims, and despite Joe’s pattern of creepiness, he’d never before been publicly accused of a violent molestation. But the media didn’t merely move on, they attacked Reade. Politico, for example, ran an article in which Joe’s accuser was described as a “[m]anipulative, deceitful, user.”32


So much for the #MeToo-era slogan “Believe all women.”


There is still one allegation against Joe that might be the most disturbing, yet it is the one that is the most uncomfortable to discuss.


In 2020, two people obtained a copy of his daughter Ashley Biden’s diary from a rehab facility in South Florida.33 The entries, according to media reports, were written while at the recovery center the previous year, making her thirty-seven or thirty-eight at the time.34 Prosecutors said the individuals had hoped to sell it to the Trump campaign, but they failed to do so. They found a buyer in Project Veritas, the activist conservative journalism outfit then helmed by James O’Keefe. Project Veritas told Congress that they believed the diary had been left in a room where Ashley was staying. The price was reportedly $40,000.35 The full diary was ultimately published by the conservative National File website in October 2020, just days before the election.36


The entries were written by a woman who identifies herself as Ashley Blazer Biden, the full name of Biden’s eldest daughter, and they appear to have been scrawled as part of therapy for sex addiction. The author details her own alleged drug use and “hypersexualized” life.


The details were shocking, disturbing, illicitly obtained, and perhaps most significantly, potentially damaging to the political prospects of the Democrat nominee for president. Predictably, with the election just days away, much of the press took a “wait and see” approach, if they even covered it at all.


One portion of the diary that did find its way into at least a few publications details alleged showers the author took with her father that made her uncomfortable.


“Was I molested,” the author writes. “I think so—I can’t remember specifics but I do remember trauma. Hyper-sexualized @ a young age… I remember being somewhat sexualized with Caroline [Biden, Ashley’s younger cousin]; I remember having sex with friends @ a young age; showers w/my dad (probably not appropriate).”


That final statement is undeniably newsworthy—regardless of how it was obtained—not necessarily because of what it reveals about the author, who is in many ways an innocent bystander, but because of what it details about the alleged behavior of her father.


The saga drew the attention of the Department of Justice, which began investigating how the diary was obtained—not what was alleged in the diary.37 The FBI staged a predawn raid of Project Veritas founder O’Keefe’s home as part of their probe into the diary.38 The DOJ’s pursuit of Project Veritas was met with objections across the conservative media, as well as from groups like the American Civil Liberties Union and the Reporters Committee for Freedom of the Press.39


The entries may be sensationalized or even outright fictitious, but Ashley has not denied that the diary is hers. The intensity of the reaction of the federal government’s response certainly suggests the diary is legit.


Nevertheless, what is indisputable is that Joe Biden has said foolish if not downright awful things. He also has been inappropriate with women and girls, to one degree or another.


Yet neither of these attributes is necessarily a dynastic deal breaker.


Just ask the Kennedys.







ASHLEY BIDEN AND HOWARD KREIN


Born Ashley Blazer Biden on June 1981, Joe Biden’s surviving daughter studied anthropology at Tulane University, received her master’s from the University of Pennsylvania in 2010, and then began a career in social work. She avoids the press more than most of the other Bidens do, but like others in her family, a history of substance abuse has made her life occasional tabloid fodder.


In 2009, a decade before details of the aforementioned diary surfaced, a reported “friend” of Ashley’s attempted to sell a video to the New York Post depicting the then vice president’s daughter appearing to snort cocaine.40


In 2012, she joined the Delaware Center for Justice, a criminal justice reform group, where she worked until 2017, when she started a sustainable-fashion brand called Livelihood. According to a profile by Elle magazine, it was conceived in connection to “American laborers and more recently to Black Lives Matter.”41 She is tormented and woke, but she does not appear to be corrupt.


Yet Ashley did greatly benefit from her father’s position of power via her husband, the surgeon and businessman Dr. Howard Krein.


Krein married Ashley in 2012, but in 2011, Joe Biden arranged a meeting for him in the Oval Office with then president Obama mere weeks after the founding of his business, StartUp Health. Krein is chief medical officer for the company, which he runs with his brother, Steven Krein. The meeting proved fruitful for the Kreins, who landed big business soon after.42


When Joe Biden ran for president in 2020, Krein was hired by Biden’s campaign to advise the candidate on health care–related matters, including Biden’s cancer moon shot initiative. Yes, Biden has absurdly promised on multiple occasions that he is going to find a “cure” for cancer, apparently with the help of Ashley Biden’s boo. (I have several oncologists in my family, and none of them has ever used the words “cure” and “cancer” in the same sentence, other than to point out Joe Biden’s political shamelessness. That is to say, Biden’s claim that he can and will achieve this medical miracle is purely political and without scientific basis.43) In 2016, Krein traveled with Vice President Biden to the Vatican, where the two met with Pope Francis to discuss the cancer moon shot.44 Krein also accompanied Biden on a trip to the World Economic Forum in Davos, Switzerland, a well-known gathering of rich and powerful advocates of expanding governments and supranational bureaucracies.45


Meanwhile, StartUp Health began investing in businesses that allegedly supply solutions for COVID-19.46


StartUp Health is funded by Ping An, among other groups.47 Ping An is one of China’s largest insurance companies. The firm made a killing during the pandemic. The company’s Good Doctor app, which allows patients to access medical advice online, rose 900 percent in January 2020 alone.48 Revenue surged soon after.49


Krein and StartUp are linked to another health care company called Henry Schein, which scored a $53.4 million contract for personal protective equipment (PPE) with Biden’s U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.50


In May 2022, the White House listed Henry Schein as a company that has shown its commitment to helping “vaccinate the world” and “build better health security.”


Yes, Ashley Biden’s husband advised Joe Biden on the China virus while making money off the China virus and using funds from China.


And once he helps us beat COVID-19, he’s going to get back to curing cancer with President Joe.


The White House has denied that these business dealings have anything to do with Biden’s family ties.51


Riiiiighhhhhtttttt.


In September 2022, StartUp launched yet another “moon shot,” called the Health Equity Moon Shot at the Clinton Global Initiative,52 with the goal of making the health care system less racist. In July of 2023, Biden would state that “we ended cancer as we know it.”53


Curing cancer while defeating racism. Howard Krein is like a modern Hippocrates and Fredrick Douglass rolled into one, and we’re lucky enough he happened to marry Joe Biden’s daughter.







BEAU BIDEN


There is a deeply personal and tragic reason President Biden makes irrational proclamations about cancer: the disease wreaked havoc on his life by taking his first-born son.


Joseph Robinette “Beau” Biden III was born in February 1969. He was the eldest of Joe’s children. He went to law school at his father’s alma mater, Syracuse University College of Law, and then clerked for Judge Steven McAuliffe of the U.S. District Court of New Hampshire. From 1995 to 2004, he worked at the U.S. Department of Justice in Philadelphia, first as counsel to the Office of Policy Development and later as a federal prosecutor in the U.S. attorney’s office. He helped train judges in Kosovo after the 1998–99 Balkans war ended.54


Beau married Hallie Olivere in 2002, and the couple had two children.


For several years, Beau was a partner at a law firm before he was elected Delaware’s attorney general in 2006.55 He served in Iraq for a year in 2008 in an administrative post in a combat zone with the 261st Signal Brigade, earning him a Bronze Star.


On multiple occasions, Joe Biden has claimed that Beau died in Iraq.56 He did not.


Beau flirted with running for the Senate seat his father vacated when he became the vice president, but instead successfully ran for reelection as attorney general in 2010.57


Beau was the good son. He was the linchpin to the Biden family future. The hopes of a dynasty were on his shoulders even more than on Joe’s. Whether the Bidens could one day rival the Kennedys and the Bushes would depend on Beau.


He was all but guaranteed to win the governorship of Delaware in 2016, but he wouldn’t live to see Election Day.


In August 2013, Beau was diagnosed with a glioblastoma, which is a particularly vicious type of brain cancer, and he passed away on May 30, 2015, at the age of forty-six.


The process was agonizing for Joe, who sought to maintain a composed public appearance while serving as vice president, even as his son and the rest of his family suffered. Beau’s death was yet another major tragedy to befall Joe Biden in addition to the loss of his first wife and daughter.


Joe says that Beau wanted him to run for president in 2016 despite the cancer diagnosis. The elder Biden decided against it at the time, but he opted to take his late son’s advice in 2020. “We should be introducing him as president,” Joe said of Beau in January 2021, mere hours before he would be sworn in himself.


One of Joe’s political gifts is that he speaks to audiences like they are all enduring a psychological or emotional trauma, and that he has a unique understanding of what they are going through. Living through losses of this magnitude might be why.


Whereas Bill Clinton is famous for saying “I feel your pain,” Joe Biden actually might.







VALERIE BIDEN OWENS


Perhaps of all the Biden family members, Joe’s sister, Valerie, is his closest advisor. (Remember, she’s also “the love of [his] life.”) Valerie, born November 5, 1945, briefly worked as a schoolteacher before becoming a full-time political consultant, yet she never stepped far outside of her brother’s shadow. She managed all of Joe’s Senate campaigns as well as his presidential bids in 1988 and 2008. These collaborations were financial boons for her. Her communication firm was paid $2.5 million by organizations supporting Biden’s 2008 presidential bid, for instance.58 When she wasn’t working for her brother’s campaigns, she was executive vice president of Joe Slade White & Company, a media consulting firm.59


 She married John Owens, a friend and law school classmate of Joe’s. Owens, who runs a Delaware-based telemedicine company, hosted Joe Biden as a speaker in 2017 and promptly used the affiliation for marketing purposes.60 Under Obama, Val served as an alternate representative to the United Nations, and she now vice-chairs the Biden Institute at the University of Delaware.61


Like their mother, Valerie Biden Owens’s three children have, for the most part, enjoyed relatively tame professional careers that nonetheless appear to have been buoyed by access to Joe. Daughter Missy Owens worked in the Obama administration, and, more recently, in high-level government-affairs positions at General Motors and Coca-Cola. While Missy was at Coke, the company lobbied against the Uyghur Forced Labor Prevention Act, a bill meant to ban the import of products made via forced labor of imprisoned Uyghur Muslims in China.62 The bill ultimately passed and was a blow to China’s economy.


Missy’s sister, Casey Castello, also enjoyed a stint at the Treasury Department under Obama and became a Starbucks executive.63


Val’s family proves that being related to Joe Biden is a jobs program in and of itself.


Cuffe, Valerie’s only son, is an entertainment attorney who had fifteen minutes of fame when he married Real Housewives of Orange County star Meghan King.64 At times the Biden family can literally seem like a cast of characters.







JAMES BIDEN


From the beginning, James “Jim” Biden’s professional life has been a whirlwind. Campaign finance maven, nightclub owner, hedge fund mastermind—Jim has done it all, though “it all” rarely strays far from the influence of his big brother, Joe. So, it follows that Jim’s commercial opportunities really began to ramp up after Joe became vice president.


On November 4, 2010, a longtime Biden family friend from Delaware, Kevin Justice, had a meeting in DC with the Office of the Vice President.65 At the time, Justice was the president of a construction company called HillStone International.66 A couple of weeks after the meeting, HillStone hired James as an executive vice president, despite the fact that James had no experience in the housing construction industry.67 James’s profile on the company website touted his only experience that really mattered: “James Biden was the finance chairman of his… brother’s bid for a U.S. Senate seat in Delaware and successfully enlisted the support of national unions, political leaders and financiers across the country.”68


James joined HillStone at a fortuitous time: the firm was negotiating a massive contract in war-torn Iraq to build 100,000 homes. This was part of a $35 billion, 500,000-unit project, as Peter Schweizer reported in his book Profiles in Corruption.69 HillStone also got a $22 million construction contract from the State Department. The company’s founder, David Richter, told investors at a private meeting that it really helps to have “the brother of the Vice President as partner.”70 For the years James worked with HillStone, the firm “accumulated contracts from the federal government for dozens of projects, including projects in the United States, Puerto Rico, Mozambique, and elsewhere.”71


On February 14, 2023, the Daily Mail reported that Jim Biden admitted in legal filings that he was hired by Hill International, the parent company of HillStone, to “negotiate with Saudis over a secret $140 million deal” because of his relationship to Vice President Joe Biden, who at the time was leading delegations to Saudi Arabia.72 The case documents reveal that on at least two occasions, “Jim told a former senior U.S. Treasury official working as a private investigator” that he was “often sent to meetings to represent Hill because ‘of course, the [Biden] name didn’t hurt.’ ” Hill CEO Irvin Richter further confided “that he selected Biden because KSA [the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia]would not dare stiff the brother of the Vice-President who would be instrumental to the deal.”73


Jim’s wife, Sara, also claimed in official affidavits that “Joe and his brother ‘told each other everything.’ ”


Lamentably, this influence peddling is as legal as it is flagrant.


Despite being able to book gigs all over the world thanks to his last name, James is constantly in and out of financial trouble. James fell deeply into debt to the Internal Revenue Service,74 but conveniently received a half-million-dollar loan in 2015 from Biden donor and Ukrainian-American car dealer John Hynansky. Three years earlier, Hynansky’s company had received a $20 million federal loan to build a new dealership—near Kyiv, Ukraine.75


It’s good to have friends in high places, especially if they are Bidens.








FRANCIS W. “FRANK” BIDEN


Born in November 1953, Joe’s other little brother, Frank Biden, is also in the Joe Biden business. From being involved with various philanthropies associated with his brother’s name to working in the Clinton administration, his career highlights are all on the periphery of Democrat politics. Frank has achieved few accolades on his own outside of his brother’s shadow, and he seems fine with that. He touted his familial ties in an ad for his law firm:76 “The two Biden brothers have long held a commitment to pushing environmental issues to the forefront,” the ad says, implying that the new president endorses working with his brother’s firm.


This ad came out on Inauguration Day 2021, the day Joe became president.


Placing the ad on that particular day is a little on the nose, even for the Bidens.


The short bio listed on the Berman Law Group, where Frank serves as a “Senior Advisor (Non-Attorney),” claims he has been an “advisor and unpaid campaign coordinator over many years” for his brother’s campaigns.77 A year after Joe Biden became president, Frank told a medical professional group in Boston that he could help them get “federal dollars.”


Frank tested Joe’s loyalty in dramatic fashion after events that occurred late one evening in July 1999. Frank Biden let a young friend named Jason Turton drive his Jaguar to a concert at a tavern in Cardiff, California. Frank’s Florida driving license had been suspended, so he rode shotgun during the trip, controlling the stick shift himself while giving Turton instructions. At one point, they had the Jaguar humming along at over 70 mph in a 35 mph zone when they slammed into a pedestrian crossing the street. They drove off, leaving the victim to die at the scene. Two witnesses who were in the back seat during the crash claim that Frank Biden told Turton to “keep driving” after the fatal collision. The victim, Michael Albano, was a single father whose death left behind two young daughters.


Turton eventually pleaded guilty to “felony hit and run” charges, while Frank was hit with a wrongful-death lawsuit in August 2000 by the guardians of the Albano daughters. Frank never showed up to the courthouse for any hearings, and he refused to reply to “any legal correspondence from the court, including a court final judgment in September 2002 that Frank owed each of the girls $275,000 for his role in the tragedy,” Schweizer reported.78 The Albano girls eventually hired a private investigator to track down where Frank was hiding so he could accept service of documents. Investigators said they had received information that Frank occasionally lived at his brother Joe’s house in Delaware, but they were unable to locate a bank account for Frank, who had become evasive.


Eight years later, in 2008, attorneys for the Albano sisters reached out to the soon-to-be vice president, Joe Biden, in the hopes that he could help them collect the money Frank owed them.79 Even though Joe Biden’s own wife and daughter were killed in an automobile accident, he seemed to show no sympathy for the Albanos and did not respond to them. His chief of staff replied callously: “Senator Biden has received your letter of September 16 regarding a judgment by your clients against his brother Frank. The Senator wishes to express his deep sympathy with the Albano daughters over their loss…. Frank has no assets with which to satisfy the judgment. The Senator regrets that this is where matters stand and that he cannot be more helpful.”80


Joe had Frank’s back, even when it meant denying orphaned girls what was rightfully theirs.


Schweizer believes that Joe was being dishonest about Frank’s ability to compensate the victims. “Frank Biden was earning money,” he reported. “Indeed, seven days before Joe Biden’s office sent that letter, his brother was slapped with a tax lien from the IRS for $23,638.59 in unpaid taxes. In total, he owed more than $32,000 at the time, a clear indication that Frank had income. In 2013, he paid off the tax lien in full.”


With interest, Frank owed them a debt of $900,000 in 2019.81 Less than a year after Schweizer published the letter, the Daily Mail reported that after two decades, Frank Biden had finally agreed to pay the Albano family some of the money.82


Meanwhile, as he avoided this particular financial obligation, Frank was out hustling using the family name. Throughout Joe’s vice presidency (2009–2017), for example, Frank was a dealmaker in several complex international real estate development schemes in Costa Rica and Jamaica, putting himself in a position to get access to substantial U.S. government funding dedicated to those countries.83


Another industry Frank delved into without any qualifications or experience is education. Also in 2009, Joe’s first year as VP, the Obama/Biden federal stimulus package allotted $5 billion for innovative educational models, which included charter schools. Frank’s eyes turned into dollar signs. Federal grants and taxpayer dollars could be used by charter schools, which he saw as a way to generate reliable profit. Frank became president and director of development for a Florida company called Mavericks in Education Florida LLC, more commonly known as Mavericks. Frank called himself “the big cheese” of the company.84As Schweizer points out in Profiles in Corruption, before long “Frank was flying around Florida in a private jet, lobbying local politicians and school officials,” all ostensibly on behalf of Mavericks. Naturally, his ties to the president were an essential part of his business pitch.85


Mavericks eventually opened eight schools in Florida, including one in Fort Lauderdale, where Frank acquired a building from a scandal-ridden power broker named Jesse Gaddis, who’d gained notoriety as “Fort Lauderdale’s Taxi King.”86 At the time Gaddis had known ties to mobsters and drug smugglers, including his brother and business partner, Donald Gaddis, who was killed during a drug-smuggling operation for double-crossing his mob boss.87 Frank’s deal turned out to be extraordinarily lucrative for Gaddis, who began collecting high-interest-rate payments every month on the public dime. The charter schools themselves, however, were an extraordinary failure: several posted graduation rates lower than 10 percent.


Long story short, Frank Biden flew around in PJs, a mobbed-up guy made a lot of money, and children got screwed.


Florida’s auditor general investigated Mavericks in 2013 and 2014 and accused them of illegally collecting tax dollars for students who did not fully attend the school.88


Mavericks had received more than $70 million in state funding by 2014, and all along the way “Frank enjoyed access to the highest levels of the White House,” Schweizer reported, even attending exclusive meetings with education officials.89


While on the campaign trail in 2020, Joe Biden told a Texas crowd that he did “not support any federal money… for for-profit charter schools—period. The bottom line is it siphons off money from public schools, which are already in enough trouble.”90 Shamelessly, Joe acted as though his own brother’s scandalous for-profit charter school business didn’t exist.91


It certainly wouldn’t have existed if not for Joe Biden.





There is one essential person in the Biden dynasty whom I’ve left off the list until this point. In fact, according to Joe, he might be the smartest Biden of them all.92 He gets his own chapter.













CHAPTER 3 Hunter Biden and the Classified Documents



In terms of sheer newsworthiness, there is one Biden who stands above the rest, perhaps even his presidential pop, and that is Robert “Hunter” Biden. Hunter has been mentioned in over 2,000 stories at Breitbart News since I have been editor in chief.1 His exploits are so wild it’s hard to believe he is a real flesh-and-blood human being. They invoke the full range of emotion. They are maddening, saddening, hilarious, and impressive, often interchangeably, sometimes all at once. At times I think he must be the most corrupt, soulless man in our country. Other times I think he might be the only cool Democrat and one of the few “fully realized” Americans who are openly living their lives as their true selves.


Yet the stories highlighted in this chapter are, as Joe has been known to put it, not a joke. He has found loophole after loophole to make illicit cash off his family name, occasionally with a crack pipe in his mouth. These examples represent the worst America has to offer. They erode our national culture and our respect for our institutions.


This makes Hunter the quintessential Biden.


Hunter Biden was born on February 4, 1970, almost a year to the day after his brother. He took up drinking at a young age, beginning a decades-long pattern of substance abuse that would bring personal shame to himself and his family. By their own admission, addiction runs in the family. Hunter, Ashley, and Frank have all spent time in rehab. Joe himself has sworn off alcohol after witnessing its effects on his relatives growing up.2


Shortly after Hunter Biden graduated from Yale Law School in 1996, MBNA signed the Biden scion to a six-figure consulting contract—while Joe was pushing bankruptcy reform legislation strongly supported by the bank. Hunter continued to receive payment from the Delaware-based bank until 2005, the year the bill passed with Joe’s support.3 Hunter cofounded his own lobbying shop, Oldaker, Biden & Belair, in 2002 with William Oldaker, an attorney who had worked for Joe’s campaigns, and former Biden Senate staffer Robert Belair. Hunter and assorted allies repeatedly claimed that the son never lobbied the father. His partner Oldaker, however, has acknowledged that he has worked Biden’s staff about some clients.4


Next, Hunter formed a partnership with Uncle Jim Biden, the former nightclub owner. In August 2006, just months before Joe would become chairman of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee and launch his second presidential campaign, Jim and Hunter purchased a Manhattan hedge fund called Paradigm Global Advisors.5 A source told Politico’s Ben Schreckinger that Hunter, Jim, and Beau showed up to fire the president of the company with two large men. It was at that point that James reportedly laid out a disquieting vision for the business: “Don’t worry about investors,” he said, according to an executive. “We’ve got people all around the world who want to invest in Joe Biden…. We’ve got investors lined up in a line of 747s filled with cash ready to invest in this company.”6


Did Scorsese write Jim’s dialogue?


The mafia wiseguy routine reportedly embarrassed Beau.7


Jim and Hunter deny these episodes ever took place, but the story is consistent with accounts made by others at the firm, and it fits with the family’s extensive history of finding ways, as Schreckinger put it, to “take money from rich foreigners who could not legally give money” to Joe.8


As a registered lobbyist, Hunter was going to be subject to onerous disclosure requirements. He was going to go along with those types of constraints for only so long.


So, Hunter found a new line of work, and he largely had Joe to thank. He would become a “consultant.” In modern Washington, consultants are allowed to peddle influence without facing the disclosure requirements to which lobbyists must adhere.


Soon, Hunter would be jet-setting around the world, often aboard Air Force Two, scrounging up business from various foreign interests. Secret Service records show that between 2009 and mid-2014, Hunter took twenty-three flights into or out of Joint Base Andrews, which houses Air Force Two,9 all the while launching new ventures that would be almost entirely concealed from public scrutiny (I was first to report that detail in Breaking the News).


With “consulting,” Hunter had found his sweet spot. It was business time.


The younger Biden son stayed busy while his father was vice president, and I’m not just talking about with girls and drugs. In 2013, he sealed a deal to launch a multibillion-dollar private equity fund in partnership with the Chinese government.10 That company, BHR Partners, quickly began gobbling up strategically important assets around the world, including a cobalt mine in Africa, a Chinese nuclear firm charged with spying in the U.S., and an American manufacturer—but only after that acquisition was reviewed and approved by the Obama administration.11 In 2014, Hunter scored a lucrative board seat at shady Ukrainian energy company Burisma, which paid him as much as $83,000 a month.12


In 2015, Hunter briefly worked with investors who defrauded public employee pension funds and the Oglala Sioux, one of the nation’s poorest Native American tribes.13


He was consigliere to both an embattled Romanian businessman and a Chinese energy executive who has since been jailed for corruption.14


His qualifications for all of these jobs were nonexistent, and he kept teaming up with the least savory people imaginable. Yet due to lax disclosure rules, there is only so much that will ever become public about these arrangements.


Somehow during all this wheeling and dealing, he managed to budget enough time to do an inordinate quantity of drugs.


He made one attempt at a clean life in May 2013. At forty-three years old, he was commissioned as an ensign in the Navy Reserve. This was a part-time position, but he still needed two waivers to join: one for his advanced age and another because of “a drug-related incident when he was a young man,” sources told the Wall Street Journal.15 His brief stint in the navy came to a calamitous end when he tested positive for cocaine in 2014.16


It was during this time that Beau was going through treatment for the brain cancer that would kill him in 2015. By all accounts, Beau and Hunter were extremely close. Joe describes Hunter as Beau’s rock as his elder son suffered from his illness.


When Beau passed away, Hunter grieved in the most unthinkable way: by sleeping with his brother’s widow. Hunter and Hallie Biden’s mutual pain “turned into a hope for a love that maybe could replace what we lost,” Hunter told CBS, as if the grotesque affair were something far more innocent.


Hallie was not free from scandal herself. First, she apparently assisted Hunter with disposing of a firearm by throwing the weapon away in a dumpster behind a grocery store. Hunter had lied to get the gun, answering “no” to an application question about whether he had a history of drug use.17 The weapon eventually ended up in the hands of a dumpster diver.


At least one high-profile Democrat believes in the Second Amendment.


In 2023, the Republican-led House Oversight Committee revealed that Hallie had received $35,000 in 2017 from a Biden family associate who had banked $3 million from a state-run Chinese energy company that had close ties to Hunter.18 Committee lead James Comer (R-KY) suggested that the pile of money paid to Hallie did in fact come from China.


So, maybe she was a good match for Hunter after all. Hunter certainly has a type—it’s not girls next door—and got increasingly indulgent in this regard after his brother passed away.


Somehow his affair with his deceased brother’s wife isn’t the most scandalous relationship Hunter Biden has had in recent years. While he was dating Hallie, Hunter had a fling with a stripper named Lunden Roberts. In August 2018 she gave birth to his daughter.19 Initially Hunter left open the possibility that he never had had sex with her, boldly claiming in his memoir, Beautiful Things, that he had “no recollection” of any such encounter with Roberts. However, legal records reveal Hunter had Roberts on his company’s payroll for the duration of her pregnancy.20


While compiling research for this book, I was unable to ascertain exactly how many strippers Hunter typically keeps on his books.


Roberts quickly filed a paternity suit, and eventually DNA proved “with scientific certainty” that Hunter was indeed the father. He agreed to pay Roberts $20,000 a month in child support payments.21


In response to a March 2022 subpoena from federal prosecutors working on the IRS probe into Hunter’s unpaid taxes, Roberts gave over ten gigabytes of Hunter’s financial data—obtained through the paternity suit—to the authorities.


On May 1, 2023, Hunter appeared before an Arkansas judge to try to reduce his monthly child support payments. At that time, his lawyers revealed that he’d paid Roberts only $750,000 of the $2.5 million settlement he owed her.22 Despite living a famously lavish lifestyle, he claimed financial difficulties. This was going to be a tough sell considering that he flew to at least one of these hearings via private jet. Aviation experts told the New York Post that the round trip “likely cost between $55,000 to $117,000—or the value of up to six months in child support payments to Hunter Biden’s baby mama.”23


As of early 2023, Hunter had never met his four-year-old daughter, who goes by the name Navy Joan Roberts. Roberts wanted their daughter to have the last name Biden, claiming that it had become “synonymous with being well-educated, successful, financially acute, and politically powerful.” Hunter tried to deny her that. In January 2023, he petitioned a judge to prevent her from taking the family name. He suggested it was in the girl’s best interest.24


Only an idiot would think Hunter has the small child’s best interest at heart.


Yet somehow, deadbeat-dad Hunter isn’t the only male Biden to let little Navy Joan down: her grandfather, the president of the United States, shamelessly refuses to acknowledge her as well. In what is arguably the coldest and most callous detail I reviewed while researching for this book, doting grandfather and family man Joe Biden acts as though this particular granddaughter doesn’t even exist.


During a March 2023 “take your child to work day” event at the White House, President Biden was quoted as saying, “I have six grandchildren. And I’m crazy about them. And I speak to them every single day. Not a joke… they’re crazy about me because I pay so much attention to them.”25 He says things like this a lot.26 President Biden has refused even to offer basic security services for granddaughter Navy Joan after she and her mother were violently threatened multiple times.27 During the Christmas season of 2021, First Lady Jill hung stockings honoring six Biden grandchildren in the White House State Dining Room. Even then, twenty-seven-year-old Naomi got one with her name on it. But not Navy Joan, who was ignored, rejected by the First Family—her family.28


“There is no such thing as someone else’s child. No such thing as someone else’s child. Our nation’s children are all our children,” Joe Biden said, quoting a former teacher during a speech honoring teachers in the White House Rose Garden in 2023.29 This is a lovely sentiment. It also makes him a hypocrite and a deadbeat grandpa.


In 2020, Joe tweeted a message so dishonest and uncaring that you almost have to marvel at it: “No matter what’s happening, no matter how important the meeting, I’ll always answer a call from my grandchildren.” First of all, this should be the standard for any grandparent and nothing to brag about, and second of all, it’s not even true, especially for Navy Joan.30


You don’t get to choose your family. Joe Biden knows that better than most. You do, however, get to choose how you treat people. Joe has made his choice, and he chose cruelty.




THE LAPTOP FROM HELL


In one video that was apparently recorded in 2018—one of the oddest videos you will ever see in your life—first reported by the Daily Mail, Hunter Biden can be seen slipping down a water slide naked at a Malibu, California, rental property that reportedly cost more than four thousand dollars a night. As he emerges from the water, he can be seen pulling his penis. This is apparently the same home where almost all of Hunter’s classic tabloid photos were snapped, including the one of him sleeping with a crack pipe in his mouth, the one where a grinning Hunter is pulling a woman’s hair while she poses on all fours, and the one where he displays his signature look: the Biden-style aviators, white tennis shoes, tighty whities, and an impeccably tied red scarf.31


All of this content could be found on the laptop that Hunter Biden abandoned at a Delaware repair shop in April 2019. The FBI seized the device that year, but a copy of the material didn’t become public until October 2020, just prior to the presidential election.


What might have been rock bottom for Hunter (who am I kidding? I have no idea what rock bottom looks like for a guy like that) was documented in a video obtained by British tabloid newspaper the Sun that appeared online in 2022. In the footage, under the green glow of an infrared camera, Hunter is seen in a float tank at a detox clinic, smoking drugs and drinking a White Claw hard seltzer. At one point he wanders up to the camera, as if daring whoever might one day see the footage to stare into his sunken, glassy eyes. It’s typically hard to feel much sympathy for Hunter, but if there was ever a moment, this would be it.


The big, obvious question was, Where did this laptop come from?


In late September 2020, the New York Post was notified of the existence of an external hard drive holding the contents of a laptop belonging to Joe Biden’s son. Two points of contact were made with the Post by two sources in possession of the hard drive. Steve Bannon, who had been executive chairman of Breitbart News and chief strategist for Donald Trump, approached then deputy politics editor Emma-Jo Morris. Rudy Giuliani approached reporter Jon Levine.


At the time, Levine and Morris worked on different desks and did not know each other.


They spoke for the first time on a conference call with Bannon’s publicist, Alexandra Preate, after both sources were insisting on giving the Post cherry-picked documents but refusing to hand over the full hard drive. The pitch to Levine focused on the lasciviousness of the content. Giuliani had initially offered the tabloid nude photos of the First Son.


After an extended back-and-forth with Preate, Levine shouted into the phone: “This is too heavy a lift for porn!” He was out.


But Bannon had given Morris a different pitch, that there were never-before-seen documents on the device detailing the Bidens’ deals with Chinese Communist Party–linked entities. That would be worth the lift.


Morris eventually obtained the full hard drive.


On October 14, 2020, the Post went to print with the first tranche of stories that would come to be known colloquially as the “Laptop from Hell” series. The articles—which did not include any porn—detailed what appeared to be involvement by Joe Biden in his son’s foreign businesses, which included dealings in corruption-ridden countries on almost every continent.


The initial stories detailed the family’s business in Ukraine. The main takeaway was that Hunter had been leveraging his family ties to boost his pay from Burisma.32


One story showed Hunter referring to the upcoming visit of “my guy” to Ukraine, which he would use to entice Ukrainian clients to pay a $25,000/month retainer for his consulting services.


Another story showed that the Obama administration let Democrat PR company Blue Star Strategies, which had been retained by Burisma, take part in a conference call about an upcoming visit to Ukraine by then vice president Biden. “The trip, in December 2015, turned out to be the one during which Biden later bragged about forcing Ukrainian officials to fire a state prosecutor who was investigating Burisma by threatening to withhold a $1 billion US loan guarantee,” according to the Post’s report.33


A bombshell story revealed an email from Burisma executive Vadym Pozharskyi to Hunter, thanking him “for inviting me to DC and giving an opportunity to meet your father and spent [sic] some time together.” All of a sudden, Biden family happy talk about Joe not knowing about Hunter’s business endeavors was nuked into the stratosphere.


Now everyone would know the truth about the Bidens.


Or would they? When the stories appeared on social media that morning, within hours, they were censored on all major platforms. Twitter slapped a “hacked materials” policy violation on the Post’s content, refusing to allow users to share the link to the stories. Facebook said it would curb distribution and reach of the links on its platform as precaution against “Russian disinformation.”


Twitter went so far as to even ban the links from being shared in private messages, which is a policy typically used to clamp down on child porn distribution. Twitter locked the Post out of its verified account for days on end without even giving the paper a heads-up that they were going to do so. (The material was in no way “hacked,” as the paper clearly explained in the articles themselves.)


Meanwhile, the Post was working on what would become the signature story of the series, wherein an email was revealed to show a remuneration package in a deal between the Biden family and CEFC China Energy Company, in which there was 10 percent equity “held by H for the big guy.”34


“H” clearly represented Hunter, and “the big guy” was indubitably Joe Biden himself.


All of this info was legit. Not hacked. Not disinformation. Not good for the Bidens.


The Deep State had to think fast, and they did.


On October 19, 2020, Politico’s Natasha Bertrand—who has since failed upward to CNN—published a story headlined “Hunter Biden Story Is Russian Disinfo, Dozens of Former Intel Officials Say.” Bertrand’s reporting said former members of the U.S. intelligence services claimed in a letter that the Post exposé “has all the classic earmarks of a Russian information operation.” Most notable among the signatories of the letter were Jim Clapper, former director of national intelligence; Mike Hayden, former director of the CIA; and John Brennan, also former director of the CIA.35


Apparently we are all supposed to take America’s spy chieftains at their word.


The letter was an op: purely political, rooted in nothing, no more substantial than fairy dust. The signatories even admitted that “we do not have evidence of Russian involvement.”36


It was another variation on the Russian collusion hoax theme. Yet the Democrats, establishment media, and, more importantly in this case, the Silicon Valley Masters of the Universe had their talking points.


On October 22, 2020, just before the final presidential debate, a business partner in the CEFC deal named Tony Bobulinski held a press conference in which he went on the record to confirm that the “big guy” is Joe Biden, and that he was involved in deals with entities linked to the Chinese Communist Party.37 “I have heard Joe Biden say he has never discussed his dealings with Hunter. That is false. I have firsthand knowledge about this because I directly dealt with the Biden family, including Joe Biden,” Bobulinski said.


He recalled meeting Joe Biden in Beverly Hills, California, in 2017: “That night, we discussed the Bidens’ history, the Biden family’s plans with the Chinese, with which he was plainly familiar, at least at a high level.”


But when Biden went up onstage that night in one of only two presidential election debates with Trump, he insisted that all of what (some of) the American people had just read and heard with their own eyes and ears was a “Russian plot.” “Fifty former national intelligence professionals said this: what he’s accusing me of is a Russian plot,” the future president said, inarticulately.38


The level of coordinated effort that went into that false narrative—a conspiracy among the highest levels of power in politics, media, government, and especially social media—would be revealed only years later.


It was a master class in information warfare, and it worked like a charm.


In April 2023, former CIA acting director Michael Morell testified to the House Judiciary Committee that Obama/Biden State Department alumnus Antony Blinken called him about the “Laptop from Hell” reporting days after the New York Post published it. That call, according to Morell’s closed-door testimony to Congress, catalyzed the infamous letter published by Politico and referenced by Biden.


Yes, the future secretary of state, Blinken, gave a past acting CIA director the idea to draft the hoax letter, and then they rounded up all their Deep State buddies and got them to sign it.39 It was instantly touted in establishment media and by Biden himself as if it were a papal bull.


Somehow it gets worse. In May 2023, House investigative committees alleged that at least one current CIA employee helped obtain signatures for the farcical statement, and that formalities of the CIA’s Prepublication Classification Review Board were jettisoned so that person could do so.


In a tranche of internal communications released by Elon Musk as part of the “Twitter Files” series, documents show that the FBI and other intelligence community members directed the censorship operation by working with top management. Social media companies hire eye-popping numbers of alphabet-agency alumni, so it is no wonder the Deep State’s request was quickly honored.40


Journalist Michael Shellenberger reported, based on documents he obtained from Musk, that federal agents “discredited factual information about Hunter Biden’s foreign business dealings both after and *before* The New York Post revealed the contents of his laptop on October 14, 2020.” Shellenberger noted “an organized effort by representatives of the intelligence community (IC), aimed at senior executives at news and social media companies,” to smear factual and accurate stories based on a hard drive belonging to Hunter Biden, which the FBI had in its possession almost a year before the Post’s reporting and knew was authentic.


This is bombshell information. The IC was running interference for Hunter and Joe even before the contents of the laptop were revealed to the public.


There was such intimate cooperation by mid-September 2020, weeks before the Post would begin publishing the “Laptop from Hell” series, that FBI, Office of the Director of National Intelligence (ODNI), and Twitter executives had an encrypted messaging network set up, which they dubbed a “virtual war room.”


Joe Biden, as of July 2023, has not acknowledged or commented on anything regarding his son’s laptop or the censorship conspiracy surrounding the reporting of it.


Following the 2020 election, Atlantic journalist Edward-Isaac Dovere published a book, Battle for the Soul: Inside the Democrats’ Campaigns to Defeat Trump, which covers the Democrats’ 2020 campaigns. There is a short passage in the book that gives the reader a small glimpse into the Biden campaign at the time the “Laptop from Hell” series was published. It describes Joe as basically unfazed by the coverage, insisting, as he does in public, that he loves his son and that he did nothing wrong.41


Based on my impression of Joe Biden, this is exactly how I would have expected him to react.


But there is one line, somewhat buried in this section of Dovere’s book, where Biden appears to concede that the contents of the laptop are real: “[T]he Post kept chopping, publishing photos of Hunter getting high and a long text message exchange purporting to be between Biden and Hunter that revealed an angry son snapping back at a father struggling to be loving,” Dovere writes. “The texts were real: Hunter writing from rehab… Their pain and grief were splayed in a tabloid spread. Biden tried to keep himself steeled against it.”


I’ve long wondered why Hunter would leave a laptop at a Delaware repair shop and supposedly forget about it, especially knowing what contents were on it. By far the most logical explanation, in my opinion, is that it was a cry for help. He wanted to get caught. And when he was, the government, the media, and even his own father, the future president, acted like it was all a fake story planted by Vladimir Putin. This worked politically for Joe, and it certainly set up Hunter to cut beaucoup deals once his dad was sworn in as president.


But maybe that wasn’t what Hunter really wanted.


It surely wasn’t what he needed.
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